THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001874

---

Century Capital Group, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

Midtown Development Group, LLC,  
Richland Joint Venture Group, LLC,  
Windsor Richland Mall, L.P. and BRC  
Richland, LLC,

Respondents.

RECEIVED  
SEP 04 2019  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

J. Ryan Oates, SC Bar No. 80381  
McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, PC  
Post Office Box 212069  
Columbia, SC 29221  
Phone: 803-724-5000  
Fax: 803-724-5001  
Email: [ryan.oates@mccabetrotter.com](mailto:ryan.oates@mccabetrotter.com)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court's procedurally premature grant of summary judgment on the basis that Petitioner's \$1.45 million settlement payment in an underlying case was allegedly made to extinguish liability for behavior other than non-intentional tortious behavior, and therefore barred recovery under the Contribution Among Joint Tortfeasors Act ("the Act"), when in fact, genuine issues of material fact exist as Petitioner did indeed render the payment to extinguish liability for non-intentional *negligent* maintenance and repair only?
  
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the grant of summary judgment when general issues of material fact exist where the parties to this action are joint tortfeasors from whom contribution is recoverable under the Act as the successors in interest were jointly and severally liable for damages from the negligent maintenance and repair of the Mall, where Petitioner's payment expressly extinguished the parties' tort liability for those same damages, where the \$1.45 million was well in excess of Petitioner's pro rata share of the liability, where the pro rata shares owed by the other parties is reasonable, and where the status of a joint tortfeasor is a question of fact.?
  
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's erroneous grant of summary judgment when the trial court effectively held that a purchase "as is/where is" relieves a seller from third party liability for the seller's negligence where it held Petitioner was barred from seeking contribution from Richland Joint Venture Group, LLC ("RJVC"), solely because the property was purchased "as-is?"
  
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment when the trial court erroneously held that Petitioner's claims for contribution were barred by the Statute of Repose?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2014, Century Capital Group, LLC, (“Petitioner”) filed a complaint against the Respondents, Midtown Development Group, LLC (“Midtown”), Richland Joint Venture Group, LLC (“RJVG”), Windsor Richland Mall, L.P. (“Windsor”), and BRC Richland, LLC (“BRC”) (collectively, “Respondents”), in the Circuit Court of Richland County. The complaint was amended twice, once on November 12, 2014, and again by leave of the court on December 8, 2014, to add a paragraph that was inadvertently left out and to correct the request for relief. Petitioner sought recovery against Respondents for contribution. RJVG filed its motion for summary judgment on May 6, 2015, and Midtown and Windsor filed separate motions for summary judgment on May 11, 2015. BRC could not be served and did not participate in the action.

On July 30, 2015, a hearing was conducted before the Honorable L. Casey Manning regarding the three motions for summary judgment. (App. 617). On September 16 and 17, 2015, the circuit court issued orders granting summary judgment as to all defendants and dismissing Petitioner’s claim with prejudice on the grounds that there were no genuine issues of material fact, the Settlement Agreement does not delineate what portion of the sum paid by Petitioner should be apportioned to each defendant under a negligence theory, and that Petitioner’s claims are barred by the statute of repose. (App. 564-602).

On September 25, 2015, Petitioner filed motions to alter or amend the September 16 and 17 Orders (App. 603-614), which were subsequently denied by the trial court on February 23, 2016 (App. 615-616).

Petitioner subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal on March 3, 2016. Petitioner filed its final brief with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on September 14, 2016. Respondents filed

their final brief on September 22, 2016. The matter was heard on May 16, 2018. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in an unpublished opinion filed on June 13, 2018, in which the Court of Appeals found summary judgment was appropriate because it interpreted Petitioner's settlement payment in the underlying case to have extinguished liability for more than just non-intentional tortious behavior and therefore have barred Petitioner from recovery under the Contribution Among Joint Tortfeasors Act ("the Act"). The Court of Appeals did not consider or address the other issues raised by Petitioner. Appellate Case No. 2016-000461. Petitioner subsequently petitioned for a rehearing, but was denied on September 20, 2018.

Petitioner filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court of South Carolina on October 19, 2018. Respondents filed their Return on December 13, 2018. The Court granted certiorari by order issued on August 5, 2019. This Brief of Petitioner follows accordingly.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This case arises from an underlying lawsuit (Case No.: 2010-CP-40-8407) against Petitioner by Spirit SPE Columbia, LLC ("Spirit") (App. 72-131), a non-party in the present matter, based primarily on allegations that Petitioner failed to adequately repair and maintain certain portions of the Richland Mall (or, "the Mall"). The Richland Mall has a long, documented history of construction defects and maintenance issues and has experienced persistent roof leaks since original construction. The parking deck was designed above occupied space and has a split-slab system of waterproofing, meaning the waterproofing membrane is positioned between two layers of concrete and endures regular vehicular and pedestrian traffic. Extensive reports dating back to the 1990s indicate the roof was defectively constructed based on a failure to install sufficient expansion joints and defective components in the waterproofing

structure. (App. 511-517; 536). In lieu of costly roof repairs, Richland Mall's ownership at the time began installing a system of ceiling pans to prevent water from intruding into the occupied space below and injecting the visible cracks in the concrete of the deck with epoxy. (App. 511-517; 536).

On December 23, 2002, the Mall was sold to Windsor and simultaneously split into separate parcels: the "Bank Parcel," the "TGI Friday Parcel," the "Verizon Parcel" and the "Mall Parcel," which included the remaining portions of the Mall and the Common Areas. (App. 134). Also in 2002, Windsor sold the Verizon parcel to BRC. (App. 134).

On September 7, 2005, BRC and Windsor entered into and executed the Reciprocal Easement, Covenant, Operation and Restriction Agreement ("REA") (App. 137-172), which attempted to outline the respective duties of those parties and their successors regarding the maintenance and administration of the Mall. (App. 134) Of particular relevance is the following REA provision:

(C) Roof and other Repairs. Until November 30, 2010, Windsor as owner of the Midtown Parcel and any successor thereto, shall make all roof repairs, structural repairs to exterior walls, structural repairs to columns and structural floor (excluding floor coverings) which collectively enclose the building on the Verizon Parcel and the building systems (plumbing, sprinkler, electrical, and HVAC) in the building on the Verizon Parcel.

(App. 152).

As the roof leaks continued, Mall Management elected to inject epoxy to chase the cracks and continued to install galvanized steel catch pans in the roof system to collect the water. Spirit purchased the Verizon Parcel on September 12, 2005. (App. 134) On November 4, 2005, Windsor sold the Mall parcel to Midtown. (App. 134) On May 25, 2007, Midtown sold the Mall parcel to RJVG. (App. 134). After receiving a demand for repairs from Spirit on March 3, 2009,

RJVG began a program of replacing sections of concrete while maintaining the pan/seal method of repair. RJVG did not re-seal the entire parking deck structure.

Petitioner purchased the Mall parcel from RJVG on February 16, 2010, less than a year after Spirit made its demand for repairs to RJVG. Petitioner acknowledges that it had notice of the roof leaks when it purchased the Mall parcel. However, Petitioner had no indication that Spirit took issue with the maintenance plan in place or work conducted since the original discovery of the leaks, nor did Petitioner agree to accept responsibility for its predecessors' maintenance failures. (App. 511). Spirit initiated the underlying suit against Petitioner only nine months after Petitioner took possession of the Mall parcel. Spirit's complaint sought relief under seventeen causes of action for damages related to maintenance and repair of the Mall Property, common area maintenance charges, and management of the Mall in general. (App. 72-131).

In order to resolve the costly and protracted litigation with Spirit, Petitioner agreed to settle the underlying lawsuit's claims relating to repair and maintenance of the Mall for One Million Four Hundred Fifty Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$1,450,000.00). The Agreement provides in part:

The parties agree that the \$1,450,000 payment is provided for the release and extinguishment of any pre-June 30, 2013 liability related to the *maintenance and repair* of the Spirit parcel and the remaining consideration provided by [Century] under this Settlement Agreement is provided for the pre-June 30, 2013 settlement of the CAM, accounting and other claims asserted by Spirit.

(App. 223) (emphasis added).

The Settlement Agreement expressly extinguishes liability and discharges all claims against Petitioner and its predecessors in interest under the REA:

Based upon the foregoing consideration, Spirit . . . hereby releases and forever discharges from all claims . . . [Century's] predecessors in interest under the REA, and each predecessor in interest's employees, agents, heirs

and assigns.

(App. 230).

Petitioner brought a claim for contribution against the Respondents for their pro rata share of the liability to Spirit for negligent maintenance and repair on the basis that the actions and/or inactions of all successive owners of the Mall necessarily united in causing Spirit's damages.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court; summary judgment is only proper when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRCF; *Zurich Am. Ins. Co. v. Tolbert*, 378 S.C. 493, 496, 662 S.E.2d 606, 607 (Ct. App. 2008). In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from it must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 404, 581 S.E.2d 616, 165 (2003). Even if evidentiary facts are not disputed, if only the conclusions to be drawn from them are, a motion for summary judgment should be denied. *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 415, 401 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1991).

Principles of equity are applicable to actions determining the pro rata liability of tortfeasors. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-30 (Supp. 2000); *Florence Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 2 v. Interkal, Inc.*, 348 S.C. 446, 450, 559 S.E.2d 866, 868 (Ct. App. 2002). In equity cases tried before a judge without a jury, the appellate court may make a de novo review of properly challenged findings of fact as well as rule upon issues of law. *Townes Assoc., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). Therefore, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its

own views of the preponderance of the evidence. *Metromont Materials Corp. v. Pennell*, 270 S.C. 9, 18, 239 S.E.2d 753, 758 (1977).

Pertinent to the court's fact-finding role, summary judgment is a drastic remedy and is therefore not appropriate when further inquiry into the facts is desirable to clarify the application of law. *Tupper v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 326 S.C. 318, 325, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997). Accordingly, a non-movant should have a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery before the court grants a motion for summary judgment. *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). Thus, a trial court's decision to grant summary judgment before the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery constitutes reversible error. *See e.g., Evening Post Pub. Co. v. Berkeley County School Dist.*, 392 S.C. 76, 81, 708 S.E.2d 745, 747-48 (2011) (reversing trial court's grant of summary judgment where appellant argued it did not have an adequate opportunity to conduct discovery).

### ARGUMENT

**I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court's procedurally premature grant of summary judgment on the basis that Petitioner's \$1.45 million settlement payment in an underlying case was allegedly made to extinguish liability for behavior other than non-intentional tortious behavior, and therefore barred recovery under the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act ("the Act"), when in fact, genuine issues of material fact exist as Petitioner did indeed render the payment to extinguish liability for non-intentional *negligent* maintenance and repair only.**

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment by holding that some of the theories under which Petitioner may have been liable for damages in the underlying action were not eligible for contribution, i.e. non-tortious actions.<sup>1</sup> However, notwithstanding the fact that summary judgment was premature and deprived the parties of the necessary discovery to properly defend against a motion for summary judgment, there still

---

<sup>1</sup> Having disposed of the appeal on this issue, the Court of Appeals declined to address Petitioner's remaining issues.

existed a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the settlement extinguished liability for non-intentional tortious behavior or other behavior not contemplated by the Act. In fact, the settlement agreement on its face, in addition to the nature of the damages for which Petitioner was remitting payment, reveals the \$1.45 million was clearly paid to settle liability for damages arising from the negligence in maintenance and repair, an action squarely within the purview of the Act.

Contribution is an equitable theory which seeks to apportion liability between joint tortfeasors proportionately. *Ashley II of Charleston, L.L.C. v. PCS Nitrogen, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 487, 491, 763 S.E.2d 19, 21 (2014). In South Carolina, the right to contribution among joint tortfeasors exists under the South Carolina Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act (“the Act”). S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-38-10 to -70 (Supp. 2003); *Cowden Enterprises, Inc. v. East Coast Millwork Distributors*, 363 S.C. 540, 543, 611 S.E.2d 259, 260 (Ct. App. 2005). Under the Act, where two or more persons become jointly or severally liable in tort for the same injury to property, a right of contribution arises among them, even if judgment has not been recovered against all or any of them. *Id.* (citing *Vermeer Carolina’s, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 68, 518 S.E.2d 301, 309 (Ct. App. 1999)). “A tortfeasor who enters into a settlement with a claimant is not entitled to recover contribution from another tortfeasor whose liability for the injury or wrongful death is not extinguished by the settlement...” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(D). The trial court and Court of Appeals mistakenly relied on this requirement in granting and affirming summary judgment.

Petitioner’s December 2013 Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release (“Settlement Agreement”) with Spirit in the underlying case provided, among other things, the following:

The parties agree that the \$1,450,000 payment is provided for the *release and extinguishment of any pre-June 30, 2013 liability related to the maintenance and*

*repair of the Spirit parcel* and the remaining consideration provided by CCG under this Settlement Agreement is provided for the pre-June 30, 2013 settlement of CAM, accounting and other claims asserted by Spirit. (App. 39) (emphasis added).

The “remaining consideration” referenced above is further outlined in subsequent paragraphs of the Settlement Agreement to include modifications to the REA, and Section (d)(1) of the Settlement Agreement provides in part:

Based upon the foregoing consideration, Spirit ... hereby releases and forever discharges all claims ... [Petitioner’s] predecessors in interest under the REA, and each predecessor in interest’s employees, agents, heirs, and assigns. (App. 39).

Petitioner raised Contribution as its sole cause of action in the present case and specifically alleged Respondents negligently maintained and negligently repaired the relevant properties. (App. 135). While the trial court and Court of Appeals have relied on the notion that Petitioner in its Settlement Agreement could have conceivably been extinguishing liability for breach of contract or other non-tortious actions outside of the Act’s purview, the Settlement Agreement provides the release was for the very conduct that is alleged to have been carried out *negligently*. There is no dispute that negligence is a tort contemplated by the Act. Rather, Respondents have endeavored to redefine the nature of both the conduct and the damages at issue in this case to inaccurately redefine a settlement and injury which was clearly the result of negligence, not a breach of contract or other cause of action not contemplated by the Act.

Respondents rely on the existence of the underlying REA to manipulate the appearance of the negligence claims extinguished by the Settlement Agreement into being interpreted as a breach of contract matter. Obviously, Petitioner does not dispute the existence or effect of the REA. However, the REA is in no way dispositive to the action for Contribution. While the REA enumerated duties to maintain and repair the property, it was merely these duties being carried

out *negligently* that is at issue, not the contract; the settlement was to resolve the liability for damages arising from negligent furtherance of duties, and these duties arise not only from contract but also independently as adjacent and successive property owners. The REA is merely one *theory* which gives rise to the duty which was breached through the parties' negligence. Even when two tortfeasors are liable to a plaintiff under differing or multiple theories, they can nevertheless be liable to each other when their actions unite to cause one injury to the plaintiff.

*See Matthews v. Seaboard Air Line Ry.*, 67 S.C. 499, 46 S.E. 335, 340 (1903).

If two or more persons owe to another the same duty, and by their common neglect of that duty he is injured, doubtless the tort is joint, and upon well-settled principles each, any, or all of the tortfeasors may be held. But when each of two or more persons owe to another a separate duty, which each wrongfully neglects to perform, then, although the duties were diverse and disconnected, and the neglect of each was without concert, *if such neglects concurred and united together in causing injury, the tort is equally joint, and the tortfeasors are subject to a like liability.*

*Id.* at 514-515.

The Settlement Agreement properly discharged Respondents from liability to Spirit and outlines that \$1.45 million was paid to settle liability for their negligence in failing to maintain and repair portions of the Richland Mall affecting the Spirit Parcel. Regardless of the legal theories or various duties at issue, each successor in interest to the Richland Mall negligently acted to cause this injury to Spirit. Pursuant to the Act, each joint tortfeasor is responsible for its equal share of the settlement figure regardless of each party's relative degree of fault. *First Gen. Servs. Of Charleston, Inc. v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 439, 445 S.E.2d 446 (1994); *Southeastern Freight Lines v. City of Hartsville*, 313 S.C. 466, 443 S.E.2d 395 (1994). There is no need for the Settlement Agreement to further delineate what portion of that figure is attributable to any of the Respondents or lay out exactly which theory of liability it is meant to cover. Each Respondent is

liable for a pro rata, equitable share of this settlement figure under the Act and case law cited herein.

There is common liability between successors in interest to the Richland Mall Parcel as to Spirit. Each owner owed a duty, regardless of the source of that duty, to Spirit to properly maintain and repair the common areas and roof. This continuous term of maintenance and repair was breached in succession by each owner leading up to Petitioner, which was ultimately held liable for the entirety of the damages to Spirit. Furthermore, the premature granting of summary judgment while discovery was ongoing denied Petitioner the opportunity to present even further evidence supporting its intent and interpretation of the Settlement Agreement extinguishing the negligence claims as well as further evidence supporting the negligence claims themselves against Petitioner's successors in interest and joint tortfeasors, Respondents.

**A. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment where discovery was still ongoing and summary judgment was therefore premature and procedurally improper.**

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