**RECEIVED**

OCT 04 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001874

---

Century Capital Group, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

Midtown Development Group,  
LLC, Richland Joint Venture Group,  
LLC, Windsor Richland Mall, L.P., and  
BRC Richland, LLC,

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF  
RESPONDENTS MIDTOWN DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC,  
RICHLAND JOINT VENTURE GROUP, LLC, AND  
WINDSOR RICHLAND MALL, L.P.**

---

Trippett Boineau, III  
Heath M. Stewart, III  
McAngus, Goudelock &  
Courie LLC  
P.O. Box 12519, Capitol Station

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER BECAUSE THERE EXISTS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO WHETHER THE \$1.45 MILLION PAYMENT WAS MADE TO EXTINGUISH LIABILITY FOR NON-INTENTIONAL TORTIOUS BEHAVIOR ONLY.**

#### **A. Century’s argument regarding incomplete discovery is not preserved for appellate review.**

As an initial matter, Century’s argument the court of appeals erred in affirming summary judgment because discovery was ongoing is not preserved for appellate review by this Court. Century neither raised this argument to the trial court

in its response to Respondents' motions for summary judgment,<sup>3</sup> nor did Century raise it in its brief to the court of appeals. See Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR ("Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court."); *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (holding that an issue raised for the first time in a post-trial motion is not preserved for appellate review). At the court of appeals, Century argued summary judgment was improper because material questions of fact remain in dispute, but nowhere did it argue summary judgment was improper because discovery was ongoing. See *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 659, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (Ct. App. 2008) ("[E]ven if an issue is preserved at the trial court level, it must still be properly raised and argued to the appellate court."). Therefore, even if it were timely raised to the trial court, Century waived this argument by failing to raise it to the court of appeals.

Nevertheless, Century now tries to resurrect the issue by making it a focal point of its appeal to this Court. However, despite Century's insistence that summary judgment was premature because more discovery was required, Century does not explain what discovery remains to be completed or what relevant evidence would be produced by further discovery. See, e.g., *Bayle v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*,

---

<sup>3</sup> Century did summarily raise the argument in its Rule 59(e) motion to reconsider.

344 S.C. 115, 128–29, 542 S.E.2d 736, 743 (2001) (holding appellant failed to preserve argument that discovery was incomplete, and even if issue was preserved, appellant failed to demonstrate likelihood further discovery would produce additional relevant evidence). Accordingly, Century’s argument for the need for further discovery lacks any merit and cannot be relied upon as a basis for reversing the trial court’s proper grant of summary judgment.

**B. Summary judgment was proper because there were no genuine issues of material fact as to whether the Settlement Agreement extinguished liability for non-intentional tortious acts only.**

Century argues the court of appeals erred in affirming summary judgment because a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether the \$1.45 million payment was made to extinguish liability for Century’s non-intentional tort liability only. This argument is unsupported by the record and contradicts the plain language of the Settlement Agreement. There is no question the payment in the Settlement Agreement extinguished Century’s liability for far more than non-intentional tort liability.

The South Carolina Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act (the “Act”) creates a right of contribution for non-intentional tort claims only. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20. The Act does not, for example, create a right of contribution for intentional torts, breach of contract, or breach of warranty. The court of appeals has

previously addressed similar scenarios where a settlement agreement or damages award fails to allocate costs between claims eligible and not eligible for contribution.

In *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Builders FirstSource – Southeast Group, LLC*, 422 S.C. 144, 810 S.E.2d 41 (Ct. App. 2018), D.R. Horton was sued by a homeowner for negligence, breach of contract, breach of warranty, and unfair trade practices. After arbitrating the claims, the arbitrator awarded the homeowner \$150,000.00 but did not indicate what damages the arbitrator found compensable. *Id.* at 148, 810 S.E.2d at 43. D.R. Horton then sought contribution from its subcontractor, Builders FirstSource, who ultimately moved for summary judgment. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the subcontractor because the arbitrator's award did not specify how the damages were allocated across the various causes of action asserted. *Id.* at 149, 810 S.E.2d at 44. The court of appeals affirmed, finding D.R. Horton's failure to obtain a specific verdict from the arbitrator made it impossible to determine whether it sustained tort liability, and prevented a jury from determining the extent of tort liability and whether D.R. Horton paid more than its fair share, thus making summary judgment proper in favor of Builders FirstSource. *Id.* at 153, 810 S.E.2d at 46.

A similar unreasoned settlement award was presented in *Vermeer Carolina's, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 518 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 1999), where the seller of defective equipment entered a settlement with the injured plaintiff

and his wife. The seller then sought contribution from the manufacturer, in part, for its pro-rata share of the settlement with the wife. However, the court of appeals found the seller was not entitled to contribution under the Act because the settlement neither placed a specific value on any claim by the wife, nor indicated what portion of the settlement was allocated to her. *Id.* at 70–71, 518 S.E.2d at 310–11. Therefore, because there was no way to determine whether the seller paid more than its pro-rata share of liability to the wife, the court held the seller was not entitled to contribution from the manufacturer for amounts paid in settlement to the wife. In reaching this holding, the court of appeals quoted favorably from *Houser v. Witt*, 443 N.E.2d 725 (Ill. App. Ct. 1982):

In short, the open-end, blanket, joint release gives no indication as to how the amount paid for the release relates to any present or future damage to either party. In this case lack of apportionment may work a hardship on Witt, but it is one which he could have avoided by a properly drawn release.

*Vermeer*, 336 S.C. at 70, 518 S.E.2d at 310 (quoting *Houser*, 443 N.E.2d at 726–28).

The instant case is analogous to *D.R. Horton* in that the amount paid by Century under the Settlement Agreement does not allocate damages based on the various causes of action asserted by Spirit against Century. Instead, the Settlement Agreement consists of only the blanket statement explaining the \$1.45 million payment is for *any liability related* to the maintenance and repair of the Verizon

Parcel. Century incorrectly posits “the settlement agreement on its face...reveals the \$1.45 million was clearly paid to settle liability for damages arising from the negligence in maintenance and repair....” See Brief of Petitioner, p. 8. Century inexplicably reads the word “negligence” into this provision of the Settlement Agreement where it simply does not exist. Tellingly, Century does not cite to the language of the Settlement Agreement to support this position.

To reiterate, the Settlement Agreement explains the \$1.45 million payment as follows:

The parties agree that the \$1,450,000 payment is provided for the release and extinguishment of any pre-June 30, 2013 liability related to the maintenance and repair of the [Verizon] Parcel and the remaining consideration provided by [Century] under this Settlement Agreement is provided for the pre-June 30, 2013 settlement of the CAM, accounting, and other claims asserted by Spirit.

(R. 39). The word “negligence” is conspicuously absent from this paragraph.

Understanding the actual scope of liability asserted by Spirit against Century “related” to maintenance and repair can be had by reference to Spirit’s complaint. Among the causes of action asserted against Century related to the maintenance and repair of the Verizon Parcel are:

- 1) Breach of the REA, alleging Century failed and refused to maintain and repair the common areas, HVAC systems, and roofing system (R. 75);
- 2) Negligence, alleging Century breached its duties to maintain and repair the property and failed to take corrective actions (R. 78–79);

3) South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, alleging Century intentionally failed and refused to perform maintenance and repair work on the property before and since November 30, 2010 (R. 80);

4) Fraud, alleging Century knew it was legally obligated to make repairs to the HVAC system, roof system, and structural components of the Verizon Parcel under the REA, but purposely ignored or refused to make such repairs, knowing such failure would cause significant damage to the Verizon Parcel (R. 82);

5) Constructive Fraud, alleging Century made false, material statements about maintenance and repairs to the Verizon Property and intended for Spirit to rely on those statements (R. 84);

6) Breach of Contract Accompanied by a Fraudulent Act, alleging Century's breaches of contract, which included the failure to maintain and repair the property, were made with a fraudulent intent (R. 84);

7) Negligent Misrepresentation, alleging Century falsely represented to Spirit that it would use its best efforts in fulfilling its obligation to maintain and repair the HVAC system, roof system, and structural components of the Verizon Parcel (R. 84-85);

8) Restitution/Unjust Enrichment, praying the court establish a constructive trust over Century's assets to pay for repairs to the HVAC system, roof system, and

structural components of the Verizon Parcel that were damaged by Century's failure to perform maintenance and repairs (R. 86);

9) Civil Conspiracy, alleging Century and its co-defendants agreed to injure Spirit by violating the REA with respect to management and maintenance of the Verizon Parcel and common areas (R. 87);

10) Breach of Warranty, alleging Century expressly and impliedly warranted its respective services would be performed in a careful, diligent, and workmanlike manner, but provided maintenance and repair services on the Verizon Parcel that were negligent, defective, and unworkmanlike causing damages in excess of \$3 million to the HVAC system, roof system, structural components, and interior of the Verizon Parcel (R. 88–89);

11) Nuisance, alleging that since taking possession of the property, Century failed to maintain and repair the roof over the Verizon Parcel, performed maintenance in an unworkmanlike and deficient manner, and refused to correct deficient work, causing water and mold damage to the Verizon Parcel (R. 90); and

12) Trespass, alleging Century intentionally neglected its duties to maintain and repair the roof and knew of water intrusion issues at the Verizon Parcel but intentionally refused to remedy the situation in order to avoid costs for repairs (R. 91).

It is clear Century's liability "related to the maintenance and repair" of the Verizon Parcel embraces a bounty of claims, only one of which—negligence—would be eligible for contribution under the Act. Therefore, the only conclusion to be drawn from the Settlement Agreement is the \$1.45 million payment was made to extinguish liability for numerous causes of action asserted against Century, including those claims for which the Act does not provide for contribution.

Thus, the trial court's grant of summary judgment was proper based on the plain language of section 15-38-20(C), which provides, "There is no right of contribution in favor of any tortfeasor who has intentionally caused or contributed to the injury or wrongful death." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(C). Based on these facts, the trial court and court of appeals were correct in finding any contribution awarded against Respondents would be wholly speculative because the Settlement Agreement fails to differentiate between the causes of action. Like the arbitration award at issue in *D.R. Horton*, because the Settlement Agreement did not distinguish the type of liability subject to the agreement, Century cannot meet its burden of proving the payment was made to extinguish liability for Century's non-tortious behavior only.<sup>4</sup> Therefore, the court of appeals properly affirmed summary judgment as to Century's contribution claims.

---

<sup>4</sup> It is important to note Century does not appeal from the trial court's interpretation of the Settlement Agreement. The trial court found the Settlement Agreement was a wholly integrated document and was a complete expression of the whole

Century claims equity is not served by such a harsh result, but Century could have avoided this outcome by carefully drafting the Settlement Agreement. To hold otherwise would subject Respondents to bearing the burden of paying for Century's fraud, breaches of contract, and misrepresentations—a result surely not tenable under the Act.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD RESPONDENTS AND CENTURY WERE NOT JOINT TORTFEASORS.**

It is factually undisputed the duty to repair and maintain the HVAC systems, roof systems, and structural components of the Verizon Parcel arose contractually from the REA. However, no party to this action has or had a legal duty or obligation to repair or maintain the roof systems or common areas of the Verizon Parcel indefinitely. Rather, each party was liable for repairing the Verizon Parcel during the timeframe in which each party respectively owned the Midtown Parcel. There is no evidence in the record that a legal duty on the part of the owner of the Midtown

---

agreement of the parties. (R. 572). Based on this interpretation, the trial court ruled Century could not present additional evidence to vary the terms of the Settlement Agreement or delineate how it contemplated the apportionment of liability between allegations that may have been subject to contribution. Century has not challenged this holding nor has it alleged the Settlement Agreement is ambiguous. Therefore, the trial court's interpretation of the Settlement Agreement is the law of the case and may not be relitigated even if the case were to be remanded. *See Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (“Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court.”).

Parcel to maintain or repair components of the Verizon Parcel arises independently of the REA. To adopt the argument proffered by Century that it and Respondents are joint tortfeasors would be to hold that, despite the terms of the REA, Respondents are liable for negligent repairs, failures to act, and misrepresentations that occurred after they each sold the Midtown Parcel and vacated the Richland Mall property. This could not be what the legislature intended when it enacted the Act.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(A), joint tortfeasors are those who “become jointly or severally liable in tort for the same injury to person or property.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-38-20(A) (Supp. 2016). Any duty involved in this case among Respondents regarding maintenance to the Verizon Parcel was primarily a contractual duty arising from the REA and parties may not seek contribution as alleged joint tortfeasors for breaches of contractual duties. “It is settled law that if a tort arises out of a contract there must also exist a relationship, irrespective of the contract, that gives rise to a duty[,] because a mere breach of contract is not actionable as a tort in South Carolina, no matter what the intent of the breaching party was.” *Troutman v. Facetglas, Inc.*, 281 S.C. 598, 601, 316 S.E.2d 424, 426 (Ct. App. 1984).

While there are narrow exceptions to this rule, none of the cases cited by Century suggest the existence of any tort liability by Respondents in this case. South Carolina courts have recognized a contract may give rise to duties that will support

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